## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SED 18 1996

CLEAN COURT BY CHARLES COURT

CHARLES AND COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 86,927
[TFB Case No. 95-31,311(18C)]

v.

JOSEPH SCOTT LANFORD,

Respondent.

## THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

ROSE ANN DIGANGI-SCHNEIDER
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424
ATTORNEY NO. 745080

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After a hearing attended by the respondent during which he gave testimony, the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" voted to find probable cause in this matter on July 31, 1995. The bar filed its complaint with this court on November 30, 1995. By order dated December 6, 1995, this court directed the chief judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit to appoint a referee. The referee was appointed on December 13, 1995. The final hearing was held on April 25, 1996. The referee entered his report on May 15, 1996, recommending the respondent be found not guilty of violating the only rule charged by the bar, rule 4-8.4(c), for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

The board of governors considered the referee's report at its July, 1996, meeting and voted to seek a review of the referee's legal conclusion that the respondent is not guilty of violating the charged rule and instead seek a finding of guilt and a public reprimand as discipline. The bar served its petition for review on August 2, 1996.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The respondent was retained by Dawnee Johnson on June 7, 1994, to handle a real estate closing (ROR-A p. 2). The respondent billed Ms. Johnson \$60.00 which she paid by either check or cash (ROR-A p. 2). The respondent later submitted a second bill to her for services rendered in the amount of \$120.00 on June 21, 1994 (ROR-A p.2). Ms Johnson paid this sum in full on June 24, 1994, with a credit card by executing a credit card sales slip (ROR-A p. 2). On July 21, 1994, the respondent sent a third bill to Ms. Johnson in the amount of \$467.16 for fees and Ms. Johnson did not pay this bill. costs (ROR-A p. 2). Consequently, on January 20, 1995, the respondent directed his nonlawyer employee, Jane Tartaglione, to obtain payment of the \$467.16 by charging it to Ms. Johnson's credit card (ROR-A p. 2). Ms. Tartaglione did as she was directed but the charge slip submitted for payment on Ms. Johnson's credit card for the amount. of \$467.16 was not signed by Ms. Johnson nor pre-authorized by her (ROR-A p. 2).

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The bar submits that the respondent unethically attempted to collect a past due bill for legal fees and costs by debiting a client's credit card without her prior knowledge or consent. his report, the referee clearly stated that the charge slip that the respondent submitted for payment did not have Ms. Johnson's signature or her pre-authorization. The respondent communicated the nonauthorized charge to his client only after he charged her credit card without her knowledge or consent. The bar submits the respondent feared Ms. Johnson would not pay the bill and that took the easiest avenue for recouping the debt, hoping that she would not contest the charge. This self-help debt collection has not been tolerated by this court in the past. Although the respondent's desire to be paid for services rendered understandable, there are more appropriate avenues for seeking payment of a bill than using a client's credit card number without the client's prior authorization to do so. The applicable case law and standards support a public reprimand in this case.

## ARGUMENT POINT I

THE REFEREE'S LEGAL CONCLUSION THAT THE RESPONDENT DID NOT VIOLATE RULE 4-8.4(C) IS ERRONEOUS AND UNJUSTIFIED GIVEN THE EVIDENCE AND THE TESTIMONY.

The bar does not contest the referee's findings of fact. Those findings are presumed to be correct and will not be revisited by this court unless they are shown to be clearly erroneous or unsupported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Benchimol, 21 Fla. Law Weekly S226 (Fla. May 23, 1996). However, a referee's legal conclusions drawn from those facts are subject to broader review by this court. The Florida Bar re Grusmark, 662 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 1995).

The bar submits that the facts, as reflected by the referee's findings articulated in nine paragraphs of the report, are very clear. The respondent was owed a fee by a client, Ms. Johnson, who did not pay (T. p.p. 24, 66). Ms. Johnson did not respond to the respondent's repeated bills (T. pp. 30, 51). The respondent had in his possession the client's credit card number because she had authorized a prior charge for a \$120.00 bill (T.

p.p. 14, 64). Admittedly, the respondent had received no communication from this client for many months (T. p.p. 32, 35-36, 51). Therefore, it is incredible that the respondent would believe that he had her authorization to charge her credit card for a bill that had remained unpaid for some six months.

The respondent did not contact Ms. Johnson to determine whether she would authorize him to pay this bill by charging it to her credit card (T. p.p. 19, 26, 44, 45-46). Instead, the respondent directed his secretary, Jane Tartaglione, to "see about" having the bill charged to Ms. Johnson's Visa card (T. p.p. 46, 64). Although the respondent stated that he believed Ms. Johnson had authorized the respondent to charge this bill to her Visa card, the respondent admittedly did not (and still does not) understand how the charge card process works (T. p. 39), even though the respondent has accepted credit cards since 1992 The bar submits that the respondent charged the (T. p. 46). client's credit card without her authorization to do so, knowing that he could defend that if she disputed the charge, she would not be charged for same. In other words, the respondent stood to collect on a six month old bill if the client failed to recognize

the charge on her credit card bill. If, however, the client disputed the charge, she would not be charged the amount and thus, the respondent could defend as he has here, "no harm, no foul." The bar submits that intentionally charging a client's credit card without the client's authorization is an act involving fraud, dishonesty, deceit or misrepresentation. Self-help debt collection, although perhaps tempting to practitioners who are rightfully owed earned fees, is an unethical practice for an officer of the court. The Florida Bar v. Cramer, 643 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1994).

At the grievance committee hearing, the respondent testified that when he was reviewing the billing on the computer, Ms. Johnson's outstanding bill came up and the information on the computer screen showed that the method of payment had been MasterCard or Visa (B-Ex. 2 p. 11). He advised Ms. Tartaglione, by computer e-mail, to charge the bill to the client's Visa (B-Ex. 2 p. 12). The respondent did not review the client file before making this decision (B-Ex. 2 p. 12). Despite the respondent's testimony that he believed Ms. Johnson had give either verbal or written authorization for the charge (B-Ex. 2 p.

13), he later testified that he must have misunderstood the meaning of "prior authorization." The respondent believed that "prior authorization" meant that he could charge all subsequent bills to a client's credit card if the client had authorized the payment of one bill in this manner (B-Ex. 2 p.p. 42-43). The respondent then testified at the final hearing that at the time he responded to the bar asserting that he had obtained her prior authorization to debit the credit card, the respondent believed she had given a second authorization (T. p. 40). The respondent's later position was that he did not intend to lead the bar to believe that the prior authorization for the \$120.00 payment was the authorization for the \$467.00 payment (T. p. 40).

It is the bar's position that the respondent's letter, B-Ex. 4, speaks for itself. That response and the respondent's various explanations demonstrate that the respondent had hoped that the client would believe that because she had authorized him to debit her credit card for one fee payment that the respondent had the right to debit it for any further fee payments and would not, therefore, contest the matter. The tenor of B-Ex. 4 and B-Ex. 6 would convince a casual reader that the client had authorized the

respondent to debit her card for all the fees and costs she owed him, not just for the payment which the client had authorized by signing a credit slip. Under the respondent's Merchant Program Member Agreement, B-Ex. 11, regarding making a charge pursuant to a preauthorized order, the merchant must receive from the cardholder a written request for such preauthorization. Clearly this did not happen in Ms. Johnson's case. Therefore, even if Ms. Johnson had given verbal authorization for the respondent to debit her card for all fees and expenses incurred, he still would have failed to comply with his merchant agreement.

The respondent's testimony at the grievance committee hearing also indicated that at the time he made the decision to debit Ms. Johnson's credit card, he at least suspected that she might object to the charge. The respondent testified that he knew if she chose to dispute the charge, she would notify the credit card company and the charge would be removed (B-Ex. 2, p.p. 13-14). If the respondent suspected that the client might not approve the charge, then the respondent should have contacted the client to discuss the bill with her instead of blatantly charging her credit card without her authorization to do so.

What originally may have been termed a mere fee dispute brought on by poor communication may have been resolved if the respondent had contacted the client to discuss the bill and thus, the bar grievance may have never materialized. The respondent improperly chose to attempt to get paid the easy way rather than trying to contact and collect the bill from a nonresponsive client.

#### POINT II

# THE APPROPRIATE LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE IS A PUBLIC REPRIMAND

The bar submits the case law and standards call for the imposition of a public reprimand when a lawyer resorts to self-help debt collection.

In The Florida Bar v. Stein, 545 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989), a lawyer was suspended for three months after he sold collateral he was holding for a client to secure a fee. The fee agreement provided for a reasonable fee of \$5,000.00, which was nonrefundable, plus costs. The agreement also provided that if the clients could not pay the fee in cash, they would transfer to Mr. Stein certain fireworks with a wholesale value of \$10,000.00 to secure the payment. Mr. Stein and the clients agreed that the fireworks would be held in a storage facility and that Mr. Stein's agent would place a lock on the door to the warehouse along with the clients' own lock. Later, without prior warning to the clients, Mr. Stein opened the warehouse by forcibly removing the clients' lock and took possession of the fireworks. Mr. Stein sold some of the collateral without first taking any

formal action to obtain the right to possess it or to notify the clients. The referee found Mr. Stein had a duty to give the clients advance notice of his intent to seize the fireworks and he should have inventoried what he took. Later, some of the collateral could not be accounted for because of Mr. Stein's poor record keeping. Mr. Stein was ordered to make restitution to the clients for the missing fireworks.

In The Florida Bar v. Gold, 526 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 1988), an attorney was publicly reprimanded for his fee collection tactics. Mr. Gold was owed fees by a client whom he represented in a divorce. Consequently, Mr. Gold filed a small claims action against the client. Upon receiving the summons, the client called promptly called Mr. Gold's office and spoke to his secretary regarding settling the debt. The secretary, who was authorized by Mr. Gold to handle billing and collections, agreed to hold the small claims action in abeyance if the client would pay a portion of the debt. The client believed, based on that conversation and a subsequent letter, that Mr. Gold approved of the agreement. Mr. Gold proceeded with the hearing, wherein he failed to observe that the client had made a payment on the debt.

Mr. Gold obtained a judgment against the client for the full amount. Even after the client spoke to Mr. Gold and explained the agreement with the secretary, Mr. Gold took no action to have the judgment set aside. The referee found that Mr. Gold failed to exercise any control over his secretary's billings and collections and that the secretary's raises were contingent upon her success in collecting past due bills. However, the referee found that there was no actual misrepresentation by Mr. Gold because there was no clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Gold had actual knowledge of the client's agreement with the secretary.

A lawyer was publicly reprimanded in The Florida Bar v. Johnson, 511 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1987), for entering into an improper business arrangement with a client and engaging in unprofessional fee collection tactics. Mr. Johnson was retained to provide legal advice concerning an existing joint venture. Mr. Johnson determined the client should form a limited partnership. In the documents he drafted, Mr. Johnson indicated he would contribute money as a limited partner but he failed to do so. Thereafter, the client transferred title to a ship to Mr.

Johnson, who asserted it was for the purpose of securing his fees. After the client found a buyer for the ship, Mr. Johnson returned the title to the client with the expectation of receiving all or part of the proceeds as payment for the fees he had earned. The client, however, failed to turn over any money to him. Mr. Johnson then wrote a series of letters to the client, in his capacity as an ordained minister, stating that the client would suffer great misfortune for his deeds. Although Mr. Johnson did not make any direct threats to the client, his fee collection attempts were deemed to be unprofessional.

In The Florida Bar v. Swanson, 172 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1965), a lawyer was publicly reprimanded for his conduct in connection with a fee dispute. Mr. Swanson represented a client charged with driving while under the influence. The client paid Mr. Swanson \$100.00 with the understanding this would cover the attorney's fees through trial. Subsequently, the client posted a bail bond in the amount of \$200.00. After trial, the client was convicted and sentenced to serve a short sentence. The client decided to allow the previously posted bond to be estreated and therefore, he delivered \$300.00 to Mr. Swanson to indemnify the

bondsman. According to Mr. Swanson, he kept \$50.00 as payment for fees earned after the sentencing. The client did not consent to the \$50.00 payment and had a different understanding as to how this money would be applied. Because the bondsman only required \$200.00, Mr. Swanson was left holding \$100.00 of his client's money. There was no agreement that Mr. Swanson could apply any of this money to the fees which the client owed. Although the referee found the lawyer had more than earned the \$100.00 he was holding, Mr. Swanson's retention of those funds was improper because the client had not agreed to Mr. Swanson's payment of these funds to himself. Mr. Swanson was ordered to return the money to the client.

The Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions also support the imposition of a public reprimand. Standard 4.63, Lack of Candor, calls for a public reprimand where a lawyer negligently fails to provide a client with accurate or complete information and causes injury or potential injury to the client. The respondent never attempted to contact his client to determine the reason for her failure to pay his bill. He never notified her of his intention to charge her credit card for the outstanding balance prior to

actually making the charge. Instead, he attempted to shift the burden to the client to contest the charge with the credit card company. Had she not reviewed her monthly credit card statement, the respondent's bill would have been paid through his unauthorized charge of her credit card.

In aggravation, under Standard 9.22(b), the respondent had a selfish motive in taking the action he did. He wanted to get paid. Standard 9.22(i) is also applicable as the respondent has substantial experience in the practice of law, having been admitted to practice in 1984. Finally, under Standard 9.22(f), the respondent's submission of false evidence to the grievance committee, e.g., that he had client authorization to charge her credit card, is another aggravating factor. In mitigation, under Standard 9.32(a), the respondent has no prior disciplinary history.

## CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will review the referee's legal conclusion and recommendation of not guilty and instead find the respondent guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla.Bar 4-8.4(c) and impose on the respondent a public reprimand and payment of the bar's costs now totaling \$1,213.34.