IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

vs.

Complainant,

JOSEPH SCOTT LANFORD,

Respondent.

Case No. 86,927

[TFB Case No. 95-31,311(18C)]

FILED 11-4

SID J. WHITE

OCT 28 1996

CLERK, SUFFICING COURT

Ciner Seputy Story

RESPONDENT JOSEPH SCOTT LANFORD'S ANSWER BRIEF

R. KEITH WILLIAMS, P.A.
3125 West New Haven Avenue
West Melbourne, FL 32904
Tele: (407) 723-2300
Florida Bar No. 0502080
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to a Complaint filed by The Florida Bar following established grievance committee proceedings, the Respondent J. Scott Lanford was charged with violation of a single rule regulating The Florida Bar, to wit: 4-8.4(c); conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. No other charges were levied against the Respondent. The final Hearing was held April 25, 1996, before a referee, the Honorable L. B. Vocelle, resulting in the report of the Referee dated May 15, 1996. The Referee concluded the Respondent had not violated Rule 4-8.4(c), to wit: no conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. This matter is properly before this Court upon Petition for Review initiated by The Florida Bar submitted August 2, 1996.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Respondent accepts the Statement of Facts as submitted in The Florida Bar's Initial Brief with brief addition.

Ms. Tartaglione charged Ms. Johnson's credit card account by mistake and Ms. Tartaglione admitted same (T-53). Prior to the incident of applying charges to Ms. Johnson's account, there existed an established office practice of submitting client bills on client charge accounts without signed authorizations on a preapproved installment basis. (T-46-47). Ms. Tartaglione charged Ms. Johnson's Visa account without her specific transaction authority by mistake using a method established with other clients whom permitted charges without signatures (T-47).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar solely is responsible for the charges brought against the Respondent J. Scott Lanford and The Florida Bar chose to file a complaint charging Mr. Lanford with violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) alleging conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. The complaint arose out of the admitted mistake on the part of the Respondent in submitting charges on the credit card of Ms. Johnson without her prior signature. The Respondent first learned of both the mistake and Ms. Johnson's complaint of same only by Ms. Johnson filing a grievance with The Florida Bar. Ms. Johnson admitted she never contacted the Respondent regarding the bill, billing procedure, credit due on her credit card, or any other matter. Ms. Johnson availed herself to the credit protection afforded to her by her credit card issuer and was timely credited for the charges mistakenly applied by the Respondent's legal assistant. Respondent to date has not been paid by Ms. Johnson for services rendered.

The Florida Bar charged the Respondent with conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. The burden of proof on The Florida Bar was to demonstrate clear and convincing evidence against the Respondent in order to prevail in it's complaint. A requisite element of dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, is a demonstration of intent on the part of the accused. Notwithstanding any other label or categorization of the acts of the Respondent or his legal staff surrounding the transaction whereby Ms. Johnson's charges were mistakenly placed

on her credit card account without prior authorization, The Florida Bar failed completely to present at the Hearing before the Referee clear and convincing evidence of any intent on the part of the Respondent which would constitute dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. As such, the Referee appropriately evaluated the facts and recommended dismissal of the allegations against the The entirety of the facts, report of referee, Respondent. recommendation for dismissal by the Referee, applicable case law, and the rules regulating The Florida Bar, support dismissal of these charges against the Respondent J. Scott Lanford. Inasmuch as the Florida Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence any intent, or act(s) on the part of Lanford constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, and given that the Florida Bar chose to allege no other rule violations in their complaint, the issue and suggestion of discipline is unsupported and should be moot.

ARGUMENT POINT I

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS THAT RESPONDENT WAS NOT GUILTY OF FRAUD, DECEIT, OR MISREPRESENTATION IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

The Florida Bar concedes the Referee's findings of fact (CB-4). The bar apparently is petitioning this Court to substitute it's judgment for that of the Referee's by suggesting improper or incorrect legal inferences and conclusions drawn from the uncontested facts. Respondent asserts that a Referee's findings enjoy the same presumption of correctness on issues of fact and law as would the judgment of a trier of fact in a civil proceeding. The Florida Bar vs. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987). Further, this Court must sustain the Referee's findings if they are supported by competent and substantial evidence. i.d. at 291. See also The Florida Bar vs. Bajoczky, 558 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1990). (A Referee's findings will be upheld unless they are without support in the evidence.)

This Court need look no further than the analysis applied by the Referee in the closing remarks at the end of the Hearing held April 25, 1996. Specifically, the Referee understood well the charges submitted by The Florida Bar, the burden of proof, and the elements of dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. The following brief discourse so reveals.

MR. WILLIAMS...the only issues were the transaction at the time it occurred was fraudulent, deceit, or misrepresentation.

/m_73\

THE COURT: Is the burden of proof clear and convincing?

MR. WILLIAMS: I believe so.

THE COURT: Do you agree Ms. DiGangi?

MS. DIGANGI: Yes it is Your Honor.

THE COURT: That the burden of proof is clear and convincing.

(T-73)

Moreover, the following discourse exhibits the Referee's understanding as well as Bar counsel's understanding of the necessary proof.

THE COURT: Let me ask a question. Do you agree that on the basis of deceit, fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty, there must be an intent?

MS. DIGANGI: Yes Your Honor. (T-76).

The Court heard all of the Bar's proof or lack thereof and testimony of all necessary parties, reviewed the Bar's complaint and the recommended dismissal for the Respondent J. Scott Lanford and in so doing commented:

THE COURT:...I think what has happened here is unfortunate, I don't think you (Ms. Johnson) had any obligation to call Mr. Lanford, but I think there has been a lack of communication, lack of understanding. And I can't see from clear and convincing evidence that there has been any fraud or any deceit or any dishonesty or misrepresentation. I think that there was a misconception of thought that the attorney had authority to do what he did...So, as far as I'm concerned, it's dismissed.

(T-79)

There exists no confusion on the part of the Referee that in order to find an attorney has acted with dishonesty, misrepresentation, deceit, or fraud, the necessary element of

intent must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. The Florida Bar vs. Neu, 597 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1992). The Referee's application of existing case law to the facts presented, or lack of facts presented, is consistent with the evidence and law and contrary to the Bar's position, this Court is obligated to uphold the Referee's findings of fact and conclusions unless the Referee's findings are clearly erroneous and without support in the evidence. The Florida Bar vs. Johnson, 526 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1988). citing Florida Bar vs. Carter, 410 So.2d 920,922 (Fla. 1982).

V 60 8

The argument constructed by The Florida Bar in it's initial brief confuses the Respondent's mistaken belief expressed at the time of the initial Bar complaint initiated by Ms. Johnson (specifically Respondent's written response that Ms. Johnson had authorized the transaction to be placed on her charge card), with the issue of whether the Respondent intended any wrong to Ms. Johnson in January of 1995, at the time her account was charged. Specifically, the Respondent J. Scott Lanford's belief that Ms. Johnson would have by necessity authorized any change does not somehow suggest a retroactive intent to defraud or misrepresent anything to Ms. Johnson, but instead represents the established office practice of not placing clients' bills on charge cards without prior authorization with few exceptions. The fact that Mr. Lanford was mistaken at the time of his reply to The Bar complaint, a mistake he readily admits at all levels of these proceedings, is

^{1.} Respondent testified as did his legal assistant that in some cases clients had pre-approved monthly charges to their respective charge accounts without signed authorization for each transaction.

not transferable to establish intent by clear and convincing evidence of any thought or intention of misdeed at the time the charge was placed on Ms. Johnson's credit account many months before. Mr. Lanford's belief at the time was logical, to wit: how else could we have charged her account but for her authorization. Moreover, before concluding his own investigation there existed the possibility Ms. Johnson was not telling the truth.

The Florida Bar's reference to Respondent's state of mind as "no harm, no foul" (CB-6), is not to be found in the record of this proceeding, the transcript of the Hearing before the Referee, the findings of fact and conclusions of Referee in his report, and appears to be unfairly attributed to the Respondent. The Respondent never has suggested in any of these proceedings a desire to conduct self-help collection of his debt beyond a reasonable expectation of payment for services rendered.

The Florida Bar unfairly relies upon The Florida Bar vs. Cramer, 643 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1994), for the proposition that self-help debt collection by attorneys is unethical conduct worthy of a punishment. Respondent does not quarrel with the Cramer decision or holding therein and respectfully asserts that the Cramer decision is not a self-help collection case with any application to these facts. The case of The Florida Bar vs. Stein, 545 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 1989), however, is in fact a disciplinary case related to self-help collection of debts collateralized by an attorney which resulted in ultimate suspension of the attorney involved.

In the <u>Stein</u> decision it is remarkable that the allegations of ethical violations did not involve accusations of fraud, dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation.

It is respectfully submitted that even if the conduct of Mr. Lanford in mistakenly placing a charge on a client's credit card account constitutes an ethical violation, The Florida Bar chose to file a one count complaint against the Respondent alleging dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. As discipline cannot now be claimed for any new ethical violations for which the Respondent was not charged. The Florida Bar vs. Lancaster, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1984). In Lancaster this Court reversed a Referee's findings of guilt with respect to a specific count which the Bar had previously abandoned before the Hearing and upon which no proof was presented. In this petition for review The Florida Bar appears to seek substituted allegations of rule violations, substituted burdens of proof, and alternative findings of fact and conclusions, all as a result of the failure of the Bar at the Hearing before the Referee to establish any evidence of intent constituting clear and convincing evidence of guilt on the Reliance by the Bar upon prior part of respondent as charged. decisions of this Court in cases not involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, as support for imposing guilt and discipline upon this Respondent is improper.

The Florida Bar relies extensively in it's argument for a finding of dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, upon the discourse and discussions held with Respondent in the informal

grievance committee proceedings, and particularly Respondent's explanation of the protection afforded Ms. Johnson with her card company when she chose to contest the application of the charges to her account. (CB-8; B-EX.2,p.p.13-14). For the Bar to conclude that the Respondent's general discussion in the area of credit protection afforded to Ms. Johnson constitutes intent and disregard for Ms. Johnson's rights relating back to the time the charge was placed upon her account in January of 1994, is an impermissible pyramiding of inferences which cannot logically support a finding of dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. A careful review of the comments by the head of the Grievance Committee within the transcript provided is indeed instructive. Mr. Torpy who was the investigating member of the Grievance Committee and acting chair, indicated as follows:

S. 18 11 11

MR. TORPY: I don't think you are trying to be deceitful with the client because, you know, obviously you let the client know what you were doing. (Referring to a simultaneous statement being sent indicating the charge event.)

The Florida Bar in it's argument makes several additional allegations which the Bar did not present at the Hearing before the Referee and constitutes mere conclusary remarks or opinions of Bar counsel in it's petition. Specifically, there is a suggestion that the Respondent "suspected that she might object to the charge" (CB-8) and that Respondent "blatantly" charged her credit card. (CB-8). A review of the cited provisions of the Grievance Committee transcript relied upon by The Florida Bar to deduce these arguments does not in any way support such inferences. (B-EX.2, pp 13-14).

The cited provisions instead reveal a lengthy and comprehensive discussion regarding general practices of using credit cards in the Respondent's practice as applied to Ms. Johnson and others.

L , i ,

Simply stated, Respondent's knowledge of how credit charges and protests occur does not in any way indict Respondent for the mistaken belief that Ms. Johnson authorized the charge on her credit card and for the lack of office procedures to avoid such mistakes.

While these inferences may exhibit an evidence of mistake and/or inadequate procedures, all of which Respondent readily admitted, none of these inferences or testimony relied upon by the Bar support evidence of wrongful intent or guilt on the part of the Respondent as charged. Given the clear presumption of correctness of the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the Referee and the nature of the charges against the Respondent and the proof deduced at the Hearing, none of which supported proof of intent of wrongful conduct and/or evidence of fraud, dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation, the Respondent does not herein address the issue of appropriate discipline in the event this Court deems it fit to reverse the findings of the Referee.

Given the Referee's finding of no unethical conduct on the part of the Respondent and his recommendation of dismissal of the Bar's complaint, there were no proceedings before the Referee with respect to discipline as prescribed by the rules regulating The Florida Bar. The Respondent acknowledges the authority and jurisdiction of this Court to impose and approve attorney

discipline with appropriate sanctions and the authority of this Court to remand issues of discipline to the Referee for further resolution.

The case decisions relied upon by The Florida Bar in support of their argument for appropriate discipline and guilt are each distinguishable and therefore inapplicable. As was stated earlier, the decision of The Florida Bar vs. Stein, 545 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 1989), a lawyer disciplined for self-help collection was not charged with fraud, dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation. Likewise, the Bars reliance upon the decision of The Florida Bar vs. Johnson, 511 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1987), and The Florida Bar vs. Swanson, 172 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1965), is misplaced. In reviewing these case decisions it is apparent that neither of these people were charged with dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

The Florida Bar's argument for the application of standard 4.63-lack of candor, from all appearances is an impermissible attempt to apply a different standard for different conduct compared to complaint allegations which The Florida Bar chose to charge the Respondent. Respondent has never been charged with "lack of candor" and was only charged with conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

CONCLUSION

At all times the Respondent has been receptive, responsive, appropriate, and complete in dealing with The Florida Bar, the Referee, and the appointed Grievance Committee. It remains uncontested that Mr. Lanford never has been paid by Ms. Johnson notwithstanding her acknowledgment that she owed Mr. Lanford the fees in question. There exists no evidence that Mr. Lanford ever inhibited or contested Ms. Johnson's remedies with her own charge card account or that he argued for the collection of his fee once the mistake was presented. There exists no basis in fact or law to support a finding of any ethical breach on the part of Respondent in this matter and certainly no basis for imposition of sanctions.

Wherefore, the Respondent prays that this Honorable Court will affirm the findings of fact and legal conclusions entered by the Referee in this cause after complete presentation of the facts and proof by both The Florida Bar and the Respondent. The Referee's report in it's entirety is supported by the facts and evidence, The Florida Bar having failed to demonstrate clear and convincing evidence of intent on the part of the Respondent to commit dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation in violation of Rule 4-8.4(c).